# Antidepressant prescribing in general practice

A call to action

**Katharine A Wallis,** Maria Donald, Joanna Moncrieff

The Mental health: Productivity Commission inquiry report (2020) recommended as a 'priority reform' that we '[a]ddress adverse outcomes from prescribing practices of mental health medication'.1 The report states that 'while antipsychotic prescribing in aged care facilities is one element of this ... arguably a greater concern, given its frequency, is antidepressant prescribing'.1 The report recommends that general practitioner (GP) 'mental health training and professional development' be improved to increase 'adherence to evidence-based clinical practices (including the clinical appropriateness of GP's [sic] prescribing practices for mental health medication, management of medication side effects and de-prescribing)'.1 This article discusses antidepressant prescribing in Australian general practice, adverse drug effects and withdrawal symptoms, and the changes we might make to improve patient outcomes.

Australia is the second highest user of antidepressants per capita (around one in 10 adults) among Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries excluding the USA.<sup>2</sup> In the year to June 2020, for the first time an antidepressant (sertraline) was in the

top 10 Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme/ Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme medications by defined daily dose/1000 population/day.<sup>3</sup> Evidence suggests long-term use (>12 months), rather than new diagnoses, is driving the increase.<sup>4-6</sup> GPs prescribe most antidepressants in Australia (86.3%).<sup>7</sup>

Often, antidepressant prescribing is not consistent with clinical guidance. According to the most recent Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health (BEACH) survey data, 12.4% of general practice encounters are mental health-related, and most of these encounters are managed with medication (61.6%).7 Clinical guidelines recommend psychological therapies for mild depression and anxiety, and 6-12 months of antidepressant therapy for a single episode of moderateto-severe depression.8,9 Yet in Australia the average duration of therapy is now approximately four years,4 and half of users are long-term users.5 There is also concerning variation in antidepressant prescribing, with rates higher for people in lower socioeconomic or inner regional areas and nearly double in older (≥65 years) when compared with younger people. 10 Nearly one in three older Australians admitted to residential care in 2008-15 was taking antidepressants on admission, and this only increased after admission.11

There remains ongoing debate about what constitutes appropriate prescribing, but every GP knows that antidepressants cannot treat common social issues such as grief, loneliness, unemployment or poverty. There is general agreement that antidepressants are no more effective than medication placebo in less severe depressive disorders,12 and there remain questions regarding whether antidepressants have any useful effects against more severe depression over and above the placebo effect.<sup>13</sup> It has never been substantiated that antidepressants reverse an underlying chemical (serotonin) deficiency or other brain abnormality, yet they modify the brain in ways that are not fully understood, with potentially harmful consequences.14-16

Adverse drug effects include lethargy; sexual dysfunction, which may be persistent, including failure to orgasm in both sexes;<sup>17,18</sup> and emotional numbing described as 'feeling emotionally detached', 'reduced sympathy and empathy'<sup>19</sup> and 'caring less about others'.<sup>20</sup> The relational and societal consequences are uncharted. Antidepressants also cause weight gain, increase the risk of falls and fractures<sup>21</sup> and are associated with higher rates of severe COVID-19.<sup>22</sup> Long-term use can lead people to 'feeling addicted' or dependent on medication, increasing

reliance on health services and potentially reducing people's intrinsic resilience.<sup>20</sup>

A physiological withdrawal syndrome often makes it difficult for people to stop long-term antidepressants (Table 1). Withdrawal symptoms include anxiety, irritability, dizziness, confusion, low mood, headache and electric shock sensations described as 'brain zaps'.23 These symptoms are readily misconstrued as impending relapse, prompting fear and perpetuating prescribing.24 A range of evidence suggests approximately half of people may experience antidepressant withdrawal symptoms, which can last for weeks or months, with severity and duration likely proportional to duration of use.23 The incidence, severity and duration of withdrawal symptoms have only recently become widely known, prompting an update of the Royal College of Psychiatrists clinical guidelines to encourage slow tapering to mitigate withdrawal.<sup>9</sup>

To curb unnecessary and prolonged prescribing of antidepressants, we need to support GPs to initiate antidepressants less often and to review and stop antidepressants more often. Reviewing and stopping medication when it is no longer indicated is an essential part of good prescribing practice, but in the time-pressured context of general practice it is sometimes overlooked and has been described as 'swimming against the tide'.<sup>25</sup> Barriers for GPs include time constraints, reluctance to destabilise

a stable situation and poor access to non-pharmaceutical alternatives; barriers for patients include an expectation that doctors would suggest stopping if it were warranted, fear of relapse and unpleasant withdrawal symptoms.24 Ready access to social, financial and psychological supports will be part of the equation, but helping patients to stop antidepressants is also important, especially as the withdrawal process can be complex, often requiring slow tapering, tailored support and regular follow-up (Table 2).26-28 The Productivity Commission recommends 'more research focused in these areas, and uptake of its resulting lessons among treating clinicians'.1 As the fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic continues, there has never been a more pressing time to address the issue of unnecessary and potentially harmful prescribing of antidepressants in general practice.

Table 1. Antidepressant withdrawal symptoms, differentiating withdrawal from relapse and risk of withdrawal by antidepressant medication<sup>29</sup>

relapse and risk of withdrawar by antidepressant medication		
Withdrawal symptoms		
Physical	Dizziness, headache, nausea, loss of appetite, flu- like symptoms/feeling unwell, loss of coordination, electric-shock sensations, difficulty concentrating, feeling that things are not real, akathisia/inner restlessness, tremor, sweating, palpitations, abdominal cramps, diarrhoea, fatigue, visual disturbance, tinnitus	
Emotional	Anxiety, panic, agitation, irritability, anger, low mood, rapidly changing moods, suicidal thoughts	
Sleep	Insomnia, vivid dreams, nightmares	
Differentiating withdrawal from re	elapse	
Withdrawal	Relapse	
Often starts within a day or two of	Usually takes weeks or months for anxiety/depression	

Withdrawal	Relapse
Often starts within a day or two of reducing or stopping antidepressants but can start after days or weeks for longer-acting antidepressants	Usually takes weeks or months for anxiety/depression symptoms to recur
Often feels different, 'not like my depression'	Do not get some symptoms such as 'electric shocks' or 'zaps'
Improves quickly on restarting antidepressants	Usually takes weeks for symptom relief with antidepressants
Symptoms are wave-like: onset, worsen, peak, improve, resolve	Symptoms tend to persist

# Risk of withdrawal by antidepressant medication

Highest	Paroxetine, venlafaxine, duloxetine
Moderate	Citalopram, escitalopram, fluvoxamine, sertraline
Lower	Fluoxetine

### **Authors**

Katharine A Wallis MBChB, PhD, MBHL, Dip Obst, FRNZCGP, FACRRM, General Practitioner and Associate Professor, Primary Care Clinical Unit, Faculty of Medicine, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Qld

Maria Donald PhD, Senior Research Fellow, Primary Care Clinical Unit, Faculty of Medicine, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Qld

Joanna Moncrieff MD, Psychiatrist and Professor of Psychiatry, Division of Psychiatry, University College London, London, UK

Competing interests: JM is co-investigator on a grant-funded study investigating ways to help people reduce antidepressants (REDUCE study funded by UK's National Institute for Health Research) and co-chairperson of the Critical Psychiatry Network, and a board member of the Council for Evidence-based Psychiatry.

Funding: None.

Provenance and peer review: Not commissioned, externally peer reviewed.

### Correspondence to:

k.wallis@uq.edu.au

### Acknowledgements

The authors woud like to thank Professor Nick Zwar for comments on draft manuscript.

## References

- Productivity Commission. Mental health: Productivity Commission inquiry report. Report no. 95. Canberra, ACT: Australian Government, 2020. Available at www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/ completed/mental-health/report [Accessed 1 February 2021].
- OECD iLibrary. Antidepressant drugs consumption, 2000 and 2015 (or nearest year). Paris, FR: OECD Publishing, 2017. Available at dx.doi.org/10.1787/health\_glance-2017graph181-en [Accessed 4 Dec 2020].

# Table 2. When and how to stop antidepressants<sup>29</sup> When to stop When there is no indication for ongoing use and/or the risks and harms (sexual dysfunction, weight gain, falls, fractures etc) outweigh the potential benefits. Reduce dose by 25-50% of most recent dose, wait 2-4 weeks, repeat. How to stop Dose reductions become incrementally smaller. A compounding chemist or liquid medication may be required. Monitor withdrawal symptoms, wait until they have dissipated, then commence next reduction. This may be longer for longer-acting antidepressants. A flexible individualised plan often involving slow taper over months is key to success. **Examples** Citalopram 50% dose reduction every 2-4 weeks: 40 mg, 20 mg, 10 mg, 5 mg, 2.5 mg, 1.25 mg, 0.6 mg, 0.3 mg, stop. Paroxetine 10% dose reduction every 2-4 weeks using tablets and liquid: 40 mg, 36 mg, 32.4 mg, 29.2 mg, 26.2 mg, 23.6 mg, 21.3 mg, 19.1 mg, 17.2 mg, 15.5 mg, 13.9 mg, 12.6 mg, 11.3 mg ... 0.6 mg, stop. If withdrawal Return to pre-reduction dose until comfortable. When ready to try symptoms occur again, use a more gradual taper (eg 5-10% of most recent dose). and are distressing People who have been taking antidepressants at higher doses for longer periods are more likely to experience withdrawal symptoms. More gradual taper (5-10%) may be necessary. People who have experienced withdrawal symptoms previously will likely need more gradual taper (5-10%).

- NPS MedicineWise. Top 10 drugs 2019–20.
  Aust Prescr 2020;43(6):209. doi: 10.18773/ austprescr.2020.075
- Kjosavik SR, Gillam MH, Roughead EE. Average duration of treatment with antidepressants among concession card holders in Australia. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2016;50(12):1180–85. doi: 10.1177/0004867415621392.
- Brett J, Karanges EA, Daniels B, et al. Psychotropic medication use in Australia, 2007 to 2015: Changes in annual incidence, prevalence and treatment exposure. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2017;51(10):990–99. doi: 10.1177/0004867417721018.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Patterns of use of mental health services and prescription medicines, 2011. Cat. no. 4329.0.00.003. Belconnen, ACT: ABS, 2016. Available at www.abs.gov.au/statistics/ health/mental-health/patterns-use-mentalhealth-services-and-prescription-medications/ latest-release [Accessed 8 January 2020].
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Mental health services in Australia. Bruce, ACT: AIHW, 2020. Available at www.aihw.gov. au/reports/mental-health-services/mental-health-services-in-australia/report-contents/ mental-health-related-prescriptions [Accessed 22 December 2020].
- Therapeutic Guidelines Limited. eTG. West Melbourne, Vic: TGL, 2021. Available at www. tg.org.au [Accessed 2 February 2021].
- The Royal College of Psychiatrists. Position statement on antidepressants and depression. London, UK: RCPsych, 2019. Available at www. rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-

- care/better-mh-policy/position-statements/ps04\_19---antidepressants-and-depression.pdf?sfvrsn=ddea9473\_5 [Accessed 3 January 2020].
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Australian atlas of healthcare variation. 4. Sydney, NSW: ACSQHC, 2015. Available at www.safetyandquality.gov.au/ our-work/healthcare-variation/atlas-2015/ atlas-2015-4-interventions-mental-health-andpsychotropic-medicines [Accessed 4 December 2020].
- Harrison SL, Sluggett JK, Lang C, et al. The dispensing of psychotropic medicines to older people before and after they enter residential aged care. Med J Aust 2020;212(7):309–13. doi: 10.5694/mja2.50501.
- Fournier JC, DeRubeis RJ, Hollon SD, et al. Antidepressant drug effects and depression severity: A patient-level meta-analysis. JAMA 2010;303(1):47–53. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.1943.
- Jakobsen JC, Gluud C, Kirsch I. Should antidepressants be used for major depressive disorder? BMJ Evid Based Med 2020;25(4):130. doi: 10.1136/bmjebm-2019-111238.
- Moncrieff J. Against the stream: Antidepressants are not antidepressants – An alternative approach to drug action and implications for the use of antidepressants. BJPsych Bull 2018;42(1):42–44. doi: 10.1192/bjb.2017.11.
- Moncrieff J, Cohen D. Do antidepressants cure or create abnormal brain states? PLoS Med 2006;3(7):e240. doi: 10.1371/journal. pmed.0030240.

- Moncrieff J. Persistent adverse effects of antidepressants. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2019 23;29:e56. doi: 10.1017/S2045796019000520.
- Rothmore J. Antidepressant-induced sexual dysfunction. Med J Aust 2020;212(7):329–34. doi: 10.5694/mja2.50522.
- Bala A, Nguyen HMT, Hellstrom WJG. Post-SSRI sexual dysfunction: A literature review. Sex Med Rev 2018;6(1):29–34. doi: 10.1016/j. sxmr.2017.07.002.
- Price J, Cole V, Goodwin GM. Emotional side-effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: Qualitative study. Br J Psychiatry 2009;195(3):211–17. doi: 10.1192/bjp. bp.108.051110.
- Cartwright C, Gibson K, Read J, Cowan O, Dehar T. Long-term antidepressant use: Patient perspectives of benefits and adverse effects. Patient Prefer Adherence 2016;10:1401–07. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S110632.
- Coupland C, Dhiman P, Morriss R, Arthur A, Barton G, Hippisley-Cox J. Antidepressant use and risk of adverse outcomes in older people: Population based cohort study. BMJ 2011;343:d4551. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d4551.
- McKeigue PM, Kennedy S, Weir A, et al. Relation of severe COVID-19 to polypharmacy and prescribing of psychotropic drugs: The REACT-SCOT case-control study. BMC Med 2021;19(1):51. doi: 10.1186/s12916-021-01907-8.
- Davies J, Read J. A systematic review into the incidence, severity and duration of antidepressant withdrawal effects: Are guidelines evidencebased? Addict Behav 2019;97:111–21. doi: 10.1016/j. addbeh.2018.08.027.
- Maund E, Dewar-Haggart R, Williams S, et al. Barriers and facilitators to discontinuing antidepressant use: A systematic review and thematic synthesis. J Affect Disord 2019;245:38–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.10.107.
- Wallis KA, Andrews A, Henderson M. Swimming against the tide: Primary care physicians' views on deprescribing in everyday practice. Ann Fam Med 2017;15(4):341–46. doi: 10.1370/afm.2094.
- Donald M, Partanen R, Sharman L, et al. Long-term antidepressant use in general practice: A qualitative study of GPs' views on discontinuation. Br J Gen Pract 2021;71(708):e508–16. doi: 10.3399/ BJGP.2020.0913.
- Bowers HM, Williams SJ, Geraghty AWA, et al. Helping people discontinue long-term antidepressants: Views of health professionals in UK primary care. BMJ Open 2019;9(7):e027837. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027837.
- 28. Horowitz MA, Taylor D. Tapering of SSRI treatment to mitigate withdrawal symptoms. Lancet Psychiatry 2019;6(6):538-46. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30032-X.
- The Royal College of Psychiatrists. Stopping antidepressants. London, UK: RCPsych, 2020. Available at www.rcpsych.ac.uk/ mental-health/treatments-and-wellbeing/ stopping-antidepressants [Accessed 4 December 2020].

correspondence ajgp@racgp.org.au